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REPORT OF THE COUNCIL OF MANAGEMENT
AND OF THE DIRECTOR FOR 1958

The Institute has now completed the first ten years of its existence. Those
members who have followed its fortunes since its foundation will remember the past
years with pride in the notable achievements of its Students and Director, its valuable
annual journal, and the four Occasional Publications already issued. But this pride
will be mixed with sadness when they think of the changes which have inevitably
come to the Institute with the passage of time, chiefly the loss of its founder,
Professor Garstang, its first Editor, Professor Gordon Childe, and of two members of
Council, Professor Henri Frankfort and Mr. T. J. Dunbabin. The resignation
of Sir Osborne Mance who has carried the burden of the Institute’s finances
for ten years as Honorary Treasurer is another result of the passing years. The
Council’s gratitude is extended to Sir Osborne Mance for all he has done and to
Mr. R. L. Ogg who has so kindly consented to take his place.

So it is with mixed feelings that we watch the Institute entering its second decade.
But there can be no doubt that the impetus and enthusiasm which brought it into
being are still as strong as in 1948, and it will go forward with confidence in the
belief that great opportunities for archaeological research lie before it in the years to
come. The reports which follow, by the Director and others, on the field work
accomplished during the past season, show the wide scope and success of the
Institute’s activities.

CouNciL oF MANAGEMENT :

The Council received with regret the resignation of Mr. A. M. Woodward as
the representative of the Royal Numismatic Society. The Society’s nomination of
Professor Michael Grant to take his place is welcomed as it brings back to the
Council one of the Institute’s founder members.

The Royal Anthropological Institute has nominated Dr. G. Caton-Thompson
to act as its representative on the Council in place of the late Professor Childe, and
the University of London has appointed Professor C. M. Robertson as its
representative, Professor Childe having acted for both bodies.

LecTrures 1N LoNDoON :

Three well attended lectures were held in 1958 at the Society of Antiquaries, to
whom the Council is much indebted for the use of its rooms. The lectures were :

Sixteen Bronze Age Sanctuaries at Beycesultan, by Mr. Seton Lloyd, on the
17th January, 1958.

Excavations at the Chalcolithic Site of Hacilar in South-Western Anatolia, by Mr. James
Mellaart, on the 21st February, 1958.

Excavations at Da} Pazari ; an Isaurian Bishopric and its Churches, by Mr. Michael
Gough, on the 28th November, 1958.

PuUBLICATIONS :

This year has seen the publication of the Classical Map of Asia Minor, revised by
Sir William Calder and Mr. G. E. Bean from Anderson’s original and also of
Occasional Publications No. 4, Alanya (Ala’iyya), by Mr. Seton Lloyd and Dr. Storm
Rice. Both the map and the book have met with considerable success. Occasional
Publications No. 5, The Geography of the Hittite Empire, by Professor John Garstang
and Dr. O. R. Gurney, will be published early in February, 1959. The journal,
Anatolian Studies, is steadily increasing its reputation, and this year’s volume was an
outstandingly interesting one.
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4 ANATOLIAN STUDIES

LIBRARY :

The Library has been enriched by the addition of over fifty books during the
past year, important accessions including three volumes of the Altertimer von Pergamon.
It is much hoped that the remaining volumes of this work will be acquired by degrees.
The Hon. Librarian, when in Ankara in July, was able to make some improvement
in the arrangement of the books and on his return recommended purchase of further
classical texts. We are most grateful for the following presentations of books and
offprints :

From the Authors :
Gabriel, L., Kayseri Tiirk Amtlar: (Ankara, 1954).
Goetze, Prof. A., Kleinasten, 2nd edition.
Runciman, The Hon. Sir Steven, Sicilian Vespers (London, 1957).
Stark, Miss Freya, Alexander’s Path (London, 1958).

From the American School of Prehistoric Research :
Gimbutas, M., The Prehistory of Eastern Europe.
From Dr. R. D. Barnett :
Yadin, Y., Hazor (London, 1958).
From Sir James Bowker :
Orak, A., A Survey of Armenian Architecture in the Middle Ages (Cairo, 1951).

From the Hellenic Society :
Dunbabin, T. J., The Greeks and their Eastern Neighbours (London, 1957).

From the Hon. Sir Steven Runciman :
Fedden, R., and Thomson, J., Crusader Castles (London, 1957).
Barker, E., Social and Political Thought in Byzantium (Oxford, 1957).

From Mr. J. Stewart :

Nicholson, Sir Charles, Aegyptiaca (London, 1891).
From the Tirk Tarih Kurumu :

Balkan, K., Letter of King Anum-Hirbi of Mama (Ankara, 1957).

Bosch, C. E., Studien zur Geschichte Pamphyliens (Ankara, 1957).

Kosay, H. Z., and Akok, M., Biiyiik Giilliicek Kazis: (Ankara, 1957).

Osman, Rifat, Edirne Sarayi (Ankara, 1957).

Unver, S. A., Gegmis Yiignllarda Keyafet Resimlerimiz (Ankara, 1958).
Offprints of articles have been received from the following authors :

Drs. R. Amiran, T. Ozgig, H. E. Stapleton, P. Meriggi, F. Schachermeyr,
J. J- Finkelstein, L. A. Stella, L. Robert, C. S. Mundy : and Messrs. W. E. D. Allen,
S. Lloyd, J. M. Cook, M. Gough, J. Graham, and W. C. Brice.

We are also much indebted to Mr. R. Mainstone for his valuable brochure on
the Cappadocian churches he visited last summer.

ANKARA : THE YEAR’s WORK :

With the close of 1958, the Institute has reached the end of its tenth full season of
operation in Turkey. Appropriately, the season’s programme of work has been the
fullest that we can remember and a record number of registered students or other
members (nearly thirty in all), have used the new premises in Ankara as their
headquarters while working in widely different parts of the country. During the
summer, three scparate excavations were sponsored or assisted by the Institute, in
addition to at least one important work of restoration and a number of organised
reconnaissances. Our relations with the Turkish authorities, Turkish institutions
and with the individuals of which they are composed have been particularly cordial.
In April, by arrangement with the British Council, the Director lectured to a large
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audience in the Faculty of Letters of Ankara University on the first ten years of the
Institute’s work ; and in November the Department of Antiquities, in association
with the Museum Directorate, were good enough to give a small reception in our
honour.

Excavations :

The first of the Institute’s commitments for 1958 was a fifth and final season of
excavations at Beycesultan. The work lasted for the greater part of May and June
and the results show that the two main purposes of the enterprise were successfully
accompiished. ~After a fifth preliminary report has been presented, it will now be
possible to begin work on a final publication which should represent a major contribu-
tion to the advancement of Bronze Age research in Anatolia. -

We acknowledge with grateful thanks the receipt of the following donations
towards the expense of the excavations at Beycesultan, 1958 :

Walker Trust, per Major D. Russell . . £500
R. D. Macnaghten . . . . . LT90

Mr. and Mrs. Michael Gough’s excavations at Dag Pazar: in the Taurus were timed
to take place in the interval between the completion of our work at Beycesultan and
the opening of a second season’s excavations at the prehistoric site called Hacilar,
near Burdur. Mr. Gough’s results have been reported in a lecture which he delivered
to the Institute on 28th November last and the summary which he gives elsewhere
in these pages, show that as on previous occasions, his small expedition met with
considerable success in their efforts to locate and record the earliest examples of
Christian architecture in Anatolia. It is hoped that his long-term programme of
research in this field will continue.

At Haclar also, Mr. James Mellaart, in collaboration with the Director, carried
out a successful five-weeks season of excavating which produced new surprises and
added greatly to our knowledge of the earliest settled communities in Anatolia.
The organisation of this expedition was complicated by difficulties such as shortage
of labour and the unusual necessity of re-levelling the site after the work was
completed. The solution of these problems was due in no small degree to the
sympathy and co-operation of the local Turkish authorities, to whom we are
indebted for the successful outcome of the whole operation, as reported elsewhere.
The discovery of a fortified settlement belonging to a phase of chalcolithic civilisation
pre-dating that found by Professor Garstang at Mersin, can hardly fail to be of
interest, and the rich yield of strikingly decorated pre-historic pottery, owing to its
sheer volume, this year presented some practical difficulties to the excavators.
In the end, an expert pot-mender had to be employed for some weeks after the
expedition’s return to Ankara and the collection of completed vessels which he was
able to assemble for the Museum has made something of a sensation. The interest
and importance of the Hacilar site generally has so far exceeded expectations that
the necessity for a further season’s work there is now most clearly indicated and it is
greatly hoped that funds will be forthcoming for this purpose in 1959.

Equipment :

The Institute’s outfit of excavating and camp-equipment was this year in
continuous use at all three sites excavated. Taking into consideration the hazards
of transport from site to site, it is accordingly to be expected that it should begin to
show considerable signs of wear and deterioration. Some costly replacements will
now have to be made and it is hoped that the Institute’s commitments in this
respect will be sympathetically borne in mind by affiliated organisations which have
profited from loans of equipment in the past.

Reconnaissances :
During the month of July, an important archaeological reconnaissance was
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undertaken in the neighbourhood of Lake Van. The Director, supported by
Mrs. Seton Lloyd and Mr. Mellaart, drove to Van in the Institute Landrover and was
met there by Dr. R. D. Barnett, who had been good enough to arrange an air passage
out from London for the same purpose. The party was also joined by Mr. Charles
Burney, who had been engaged in some surface exploration across the Persian frontier
in Azarbaijan. In addition to re-examining the well-known sites of Toprakkale and
Van Kalesi at Van itself, a series of journeys around the shores of the lake made it
possible to revisit many of the important Urartian sites and ruins newly discovered
by Mr. Burney during the previous summer. The party was much impressed by
these and a variety of plans were discussed for systematic surveys and excavations in
the area to be considered for the future. The opportunity was also taken to visit and
photograph the 10th century monastery church of Achthamar on its island in the
lake, which has until this year been reckoned almost completely inaccessible. In this
and other matters, much help and kindness were offered by the directorate of
Van Museum. Nearly two thousand miles were covered in the course of this small
expedition whose financing was much assisted by a generous gift from the Swiss
Ambassadress in Ankara, Mrs. E. Kessler.

A second reconnaissance, this time concerned with prehistoric sites, was made
in October by a party of Institute members led by Mr. Mellaart in the Konya Plain
area north-west of Karaman. A report now in preparation on the results of this work
will record the discovery of a chain of neolithic settlements—some very large sites
with occupational deposits up to 15 m. deep—connecting the Hacilar enclave
in the western *‘ Lake District ” with the Taurus passes and so with Mersin and
Cilicia. An impressive collection of surface pottery, obsidian and figurines were
brought back from this survey and are now being studied in Ankara.

The Walker Trust Project at Trabzon :

This enterprise, which was initiated in the spring of 1957, has been carried an
important stage further during the summer of this year. It is concerned with the
restoration of frescoes in the Byzantine church of St. Sophia and is being directed
by Mr. David Winfield who was on this occasion assisted by Mr. Michael Smith.
They were joined for shorter periods by Miss Anne Powell, Mr. R. W. Thompson,
and Mrs. Selina Tomlin, who, assisted by the Architectural Association’s Florence
Bursary, was also engaged in recording other Byzantine buildings in the neighbour-
hood. Mrs. Tomlin also served as architect during the season at Beycesultan.

In the bema of the church, Mr. Winfield has now finished removing the heavy
plaster from the barrel vault and though much white-wash remains to be cleared
before the final cleaning, a general view can now be obtained of the whole vault
and of the conch of the apse beyond. The vault contains an ascension scene with
six apostles and an angel on the south side and another six with the Mother of God
on the north side. These figures all look up towards the centre of the vault where
there is a figure of Christ within a “‘ mandorla > : he is being carried up to heaven
by four angels, while two more are blowing on trumpets (an unusual detail). The
first photographs taken of these subjects, though the cleaning is still incomplete,
show promise of most satisfactory results.

Mr. Winfield’s work has this year been much assisted by the co-operation of the
local Turkish authorities, whose interest in St. Sophia as a national monument has
now been effectively aroused and a suggestion is being considered for converting the
building into a museum.

Other individuals registered as students or senior students during the course of
research work in Turkey were as follows :

Miss Nancy Sandars :

Stayed in Ankara between visits to regional museums while studying Bronze and
Iron Age metallurgy. She was accompanied for part of the time by Miss D. Gray
of St. Hugh’s College, Oxford.
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Mr. David Wilson (Institute Scholar 1958-59) :

In addition to taking part in both the Beycesultan and Dag Pazan excavations,
made long epigraphic reconnaissances among the classical sites of the Pontus area.

Mr. Alan Hall :
Continued his epigraphic survey of Isauria and Pisidia, spending long periods in
Ankara between journeys.

Dr. C. S. Mundy :

Completed a year’s research on Ottoman literary subjects, copying manuscripts
and recording traditional speech : spent long periods at the Institute in the intervals
of work at Istanbul and elsewhere.

Professor A. H. M. Jones :

Accompanied by his wife and son, visited the Institute in the course of a journey
by car among the classical sites of western Turkey.

Mr. R. Hutchinson and Mr. R. F. M. McCaughan visited Ankara during a study of
classical town-planning.

Mr. David French acted as assistant to Mr. Mellaart and Miss Elizabeth Beazley
as architect during the excavations at Hacilar.

Mr. Michael Ballance, Miss Sally Kistruck and Miss Valerie Gordon Smith all took
part in Mr. Gough’s excavations at Dag Pazan.

Mr. K. S. Mobsby came to Ankara while studying Greek and Roman theatres.

Mr. Nicholas Coldstream and Mr. John Lazenby visited the Institute while studying
geometric pottery in western Asia Minor.

Mr. H. Jocelyn also visited the sites of Greek cities in western Turkey.

Mr. V. Ménage of the S.O.A.S. took up residence in Istanbul in October for a
year’s study of Ottoman literary subjects.

Ankara Premises :

During the course of the season, the Institute settled down comfortably to the
use of its new premises in Kavaklidere. The building has proved in every way
suitable, the accommodation adequate to the inflow of visitors and ‘the roomy
basement particularly convenient for the sorting, mending and packing of pottery,
etc. At the end of September, a change was made in the domestic staff. Mehmet
and Seriban Colasan, who had served the Institute as cavass and cook for ten years,
reached their time of retirement and have been replaced by younger servants. It is
hoped that the Institute and hostel are now provided with a reliable and hardworking
staff.

It was with very genuine regret that in October, 1958, the Ankara staff bade
farewell to Sir James and Lady Bowker. Sir James, as Vice-President of the Institute,
had given invaluable help and support to our work during the four years which he
remained in Turkey as British Ambassador. He has now taken up new duties as
Ambassador in Vienna.

Report on Work carried out during Summer, 1958, by Michael Gough:

My wife and I arrived in Ankara on 28th June. Early in July we paid a visit to
Adana, where we took notes on a 1st century B.C. (?) sarcophagus of high quality,
which had recently been brought in from Tarsus. The front part represented the
scene of Priam begging Achilles for the corpse of Hector ; on the right panel
Patroclus urges Achilles to re-enter the fight against the Trojans. On the back are
two griffins ; on the left side a sphinx. Owing to the absence of the Museum Director,
I could not photograph the sarcophagus at the time, but later on I received permission
for Mr. David Wilson to photograph it and this was done in the middle of August.
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From Adana several visits were made to Karlik Kéyii, some 36 kms. to the N.W.
Here is an extensive Byzantine site, with the foundations of a large church still
visible. The peasants had opened up part of the nave and revealed a mosaic (possibly
late 6th century), which represented the Messianic Paradise of Isaiah—a theme
met also at Elaeusa and Korykos in Cilicia Tracheia. An interesting feature of the
mosaic was the manner in which the text of Isaiah divided one panel from another,
and the literal representation of the scenes, i.e., the leopard and the kid shown
lying down together.

Towards the middle of July, my wife and I were joined at Dag Pazari by
Mr. Michael Ballance, Miss B. K. E. Kistruck and Mr. David Wilson, Institute Scholar
for 1958.

Soundings were made in four areas :

A. The Basilica.

The plan of this church is now complete and its date established by finds made
beneath the paving of the south aisle, amongst which was a coin of Arcadius
(A.D. 395—-408). The soundings in this building also resulted in the finding of a large
area of opus Alexandrinum in the north aisle, while to the N. of the narthex, the
baptistry was discovered. This is a small building of basilican plan with a font
centrally placed between the shoulders of the apse.

B. The Domed Ambulatory Church.

Much further work was done in this building. After the clearance of the apse,
some extensive areas of opus Alexandrinum were discovered in situ, as also the sunken
stone cist which contained the reliquary. It had been plundered in Karamanogullari
times. In the western section of the nave, a fragmentary geometric mosaic of
considerable quality was discovered.

C. The Funerary Church extra muros.

This church is sited to the south of the walled city at a level little higher than
the river bed. As a result of its position, it has been largely covered by débris from
the hillside. Consequently it is in a very good state of repair. The building is a
three aisled basilica with an external apse and narthex. It is also likely that an
atrium exists at the W. end. In the dema is a fine mosaic (c. 5.00 m. X 3.50 m.).
It is largely geometric, but the central panel contains two lambs facing one another
across a bowl of greenery. The background colour of the mosaic is unusually pink.
The apse has not so far been excavated, but it is known that it, too, has a mosaic
floor. Itis proposed to excavate this church in a future season.

D. Private Byzantine houses.

A preliminary sounding was made in the centre of the main city area. On a
tamped earth floor were found a 4th century coin and a few small objects. At a
higher level, below the topsoil, was a coin of Justinian. Work is to be continued at
this point too if circumstances permit.

The results of the 1958 expedition are considered very satisfactory, as
complementary in A and B to the findings of the 1957 session. In C and D, valuable
fresh information has been gained which will require amplification in the future.

Reports on the season’s work at Beycesultan and Hacilar are published else-
where in this volume.
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ANATOLIAN STUDIES

SUBSCRIPTIONS RECEIVED DURING THE YEAR ENDING MARCH g31st, 1958.

University of Arkansas
Basel (for ’56 and 57)
Birmingham .
Bonn
Brown
California .
Cambridge .
Chicago (for ’s55, ’56 ‘and 57)
Cincinnati .
Columbia Umvcrsxty
Cornell . .
Durham .
Edinburgh
Glasgow .
Géteberg
Indiana .
Johns Hopkms
Leeds .
Liverpool
London .
Louvain (for ’ 57 and 58)
Manchester, Victoria .
Michigan (for ’57 and ’58)
Middle East Technical .
New Mexico .
New York
Otago (for 56 '57 and 58)
Oxford .
Princeton
Readipg .
St. Andrews
Sheffield
Sydney .
Toronto .
Washington
Western Reserve . .
Wisconsin (for ’55, *56 and '57) .
Yale . .
American School of Classical Studxcs, Athens .
Ashmolean Museum Library, Oxford
Balliol College, Oxford
Birmingham City Museum and Art Ga.llcry
Birmingham Public Libraries
Bryn Mawr College .
Christ Church, Oxford
Detroit Public Library
Excter College, Oxford .
Gonville and Caius College, Camnﬂdge .
Harvard University Dumbarton Oaks Research berary
Institut Biblique Pontifical, Jerusalem
Institut fiir Epigraphik, Miinster .
Institute of Archaeology, University of London
Jesus College, Cambridge .
King’s College, Cambndge (for’ 57 and 58)
Library of Congress, Washington .
New College, Oxford . . .
New York Public Library
Newnham College, Cambridge
Orriel College, Oxford . .
Peterhouse, Cambridge .
Queen’s College, The, Oxford . .
School of Oriental and African Studies, Umvcmty of London .
Sidney Sussex College, Cambridge . .
Trinity College, Cambridge . .
Victoria and Albert Museum Library
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Afshar, Hassanlou .
Ahmed, Colonel M. M.
Albertml,J H.

Alkim, Dr. U. Ba.hadu'
Allen, W E. D. .
Amiran, Mrs. R, B. K.
Anderson, J. K.
Arthur, G. G.

Aulock, H. S. von .
Aygiin, Professor S. T.
Bacci di Capaci, V.
Ballance, M. H. .
Barnett, R. D.

Bean, G. E.

Beaty, E. R. .

*Beaver, Sir H. E. C

Beazley, Miss E.

Benda, J.

Berenson, B. .

Berke, Professor Z.

Bibby, T. C. .
Birmingham, Mrs. J. .
Boase, Professor T. S. R. .
Bonham-Carter, Lady C.
Bossert, Professor H. T.
Bowen, H. C.

Braham, C. P. L.

Brice, W. C. .

*Brink, Professor C. 0.

"'Brock J K. .
Bucha.nan, B. W.

Burn, A. R. .
Burney, C. A.

*Calder, Professor Su‘ W. M.
Casola, Colonel Ottavio di
Chibber, Colonel J. H.
Clompus, J. . .
Cook, Mrs. E. M.

Cook J. M.

*Cormack ProfcssorJ M. R.

Coruk, S. F.

Craig, Mrs. B. D.
*Crastin, A. .

Crossland Professor R. A.

Culican, W

Dossin, Professor G.’

Dugdale J.R.S.

Ecevit, B. . .

Ely, Dr. De Forest .

Erdmann, Professor K.

Everett, M. H. S.

Farrer, C. M.

Firatli, N. .
Forbes, Major H. s,
*Foster, I. J. C. .
Gadd, Professor C. J.
Gallaghcr, E.R. .

Garrod, Professor D. A. E
*Gcllmg, P.S.

Gibb, Sir Alexander

Goddard-leson, Ms.

Goodyear, J.

Gordon, Miss V. .
*Gough, Mrs. D. M.
*Gough, M. R. E.

Graham, A. J.

Grange, F. F. de la

Grant, J. A.

Grant Professor M

Gray, "Miss D. H. F.

Gray, E. W. .
*Gurney, Dr. O. R.

Haff, J. O. .

Haigh, Mrs.

Hall, A. S
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Hall, Miss M. L. . .
Hamilton, Captain E. L. .
Hamson, Miss M. .
Harden, D. B. .
Hardie, Mrs. T. S. .
Harrison, R. M.

Hawkins, E. J. W. .
Hereward, Miss D. .

Hill, A. D.

Hllton,J R. . .
Hollander, Mrs V. B1r0 .
*Hood, M. S. F .

Hopper, Professor R. J.

Horn, Professor S. H.

Hulin, Mrs. M. E.
*Hulin, P

Hutchinson, R W.

Isman, I.

Isserlin, B. S. J
*Jarvis, C. E. .
Jenkins, Professor R. J. H.
Jocelyn, H. D. .
Jones, Professor A. H. M.

Judge, E. A, . . .

Kalag, Dr. M. .

Kampman, Dr. A. A,

Kenyon, Miss K. M.

Kessler, Mrs. M. L.

Kistruck, Miss B. K. E.

va1kosn, B. .

Kohler, Miss E. L. .

Koopman, Miss C. van H.
*Lamb, Miss W. .

Lawrence, Professor A. W.

Lawrence, Mrs. B. 1.

Lawson, G. R. J.

Levick, Miss B.

*Levy, Miss G. R.

Lewy, Professor J.
*Macnaghten, R. D.
*Macpherson, I. W.

Macqueen, J. G.

Mallowan, Professor M. E L.

Mance, Brxg -Gen. Sir H. O.

Mardin, S

Maryon, H .

Mattos, Luis N. de .

Maxwell- Hyslop, Mrs.

Mellaart, J.

Mellink, Miss M. j

Mlchael Colonel M.

Mobsby, K. S.

Mundy, Dr. C. S. .

Munn-Rankm, Miss J. M

McCaughan, R. E. . .

Napier, L. M.

Nosse, Miss M.

Okya.r, Osman

Opie, R.

O’Regan, P. V.W.R.H.

O’Sullivan, D. S. . .

Pcmberton-ngo(t D.

Perkins, Dr. Ann

*Phythlan-Ada.ms, Canon W. J

Piddocke, M. V. .
Pietromarchi, S. E. Comtc L.
Piggott, Professor Stuart .
*Pratt, F. J. T
Reisiger, J. H.
*Rice, Dr. D. S. .
*Rice, Professor D. Talbot
Richter, Miss G. M. .
Rigby, Miss M. . .
Robertson, Professor D. S.
*Robinson, E. S. G. .
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*Runciman, The Hon. Sir Steven

Rushworth, E.
Sandars, Miss N.
Savich, Dr. M.

o5 O;tl’ Dr.J. B.

eg r

Scrlmg, I. {)
Scton-thha.ms, Miss V.
Sime, R. T.

Smith, Miss V. J. Gordon

Snodgrass, A M .
Stapleton, Dr. H. E.
Stark, Mrs, Freya
Stcadman, Miss M. J
Steinherr, Dr. F.
Stewart, J. R.
Stewart, M. N. F.
Stronach, D. B. .
Stronach, Mrs. 1. D.
Stuart, Miss P. M. .
*Syme, Professor Sir R.
albot-Smith, Mrs, L.
*Taylor, Miss _] du Plat
Thomson, G. G.
Thomson, R. W, .,
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Tomlin, E. W. F.

Tomlin, Mrs. S.
Torrance, J. R.

Toynbee, Professor A .
*Toynbee, Professor J. M. C.
Tritsch, Dr. F. J.

Tufnell Miss O, .

U.S. Army Attaché, Ankara
Usman, Dr. M. .
Vermeule, Dr. C. C.
Villiers-Stuart, Mrs.
Webster, Professor T. B. L.
Weitz, C. H. .

Wells, C. E. .

Wenghsh R..

Wcston-Lewm, Captam A A.

Wilson, D. R.
Wmﬁcld D.

‘Woollcy, Sir Lconard
Wylie, E

Younger, W. .

Zeidner, Captam R.F.

* Covenanted subscription.
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